No. 91488-5

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 45069-1-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re Estate of:

EVA JOHANNA ROVA BARNES,

Deceased.

VICKI ROVA MUELLER, KAREN BOW, MARSHA ROVA, AND JOHN ROVA,

Petitioners,

v.

MICHELLE WELLS and DENNIS WELLS,

Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

SANCHEZ, MITCHELL, EASTMAN & CURE, PSC SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S.

By: Kevin W. Cure WSBA No. 34409 By: Howard M. Goodfriend WSBA No. 14355

4110 Kitsap Way, Suite 200 Bremerton, WA 98312-2401 (360) 479-3000 1619 8th Avenue North Seattle, WA 98109 (206) 624-0974

Attorneys for Petitioners

V.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE		
	A.	Eva's 2004 and 2005 wills left her estate to her nieces and nephew, with whom she jointly owned a portion of the Rova property homesteaded by Eva's parents	
	В.	Michelle Wells, Eva's postal carrier, isolated Eva from her family and fanned the flames of her paranoia. By 2010, Eva had become completely dependent on Michelle	
	C.	Michelle obtained Eva's power of attorney and then, less than four months before Eva's death at age 95, became the sole beneficiary of Eva's 2011 will.	
	D.	After a six day trial, the trial court found by clear and convincing evidence that Eva's will was the product of Michelle's undue influence10	
	E.	Substituting its own view of the unchallenged findings for the trial court's, Division Two reversed on the grounds the trial court had failed to identify "positive evidence" of undue influence	

VI.	ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED				
	this cou ins	e Court of Appeals opinion conflicts with Court's precedent in rejecting the trial rt's extensive unchallenged findings as afficient "positive evidence" of undue uence.	. 11		
	1.	The Court of Appeals' new requirement that the trial court identify "positive evidence" of undue influence conflicts with <i>Riley</i> , <i>Kessler</i> and <i>Foster</i>	.14		
	2.	The Court of Appeals misapplies <i>Dean v</i> . Jordan because the same evidence supporting the presumption may establish clear and convincing evidence of undue influence.	.16		
	3.	The Court of Appeals decision fails to defer to the trial court's first hand assessment of the weight of conflicting evidence.	.18		
VII.	CONCLUS	ION	20		

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASES

Bland v. Mentor, 63 Wn.2d 150, 385 P.2d 727 (1963)
Dean v. Jordan, 194 Wash. 661, 79 P.2d 331 (1938)
Estate of Esala, 16 Wn. App. 764, 559 P.2d 592 (1977)
Estate of Lint, 135 Wn.2d 518, 957 P.2d 755 (1998)
Estate of Pfleghar, 35 Wn. App. 844, 670 P.2d 677 (1983), rev. denied, 100 Wn.2d 1036 (1984)
Foster v. Brady, 198 Wash. 13, 86 P.2d 760 (1939)14-15
In re Bush's Estate, 195 Wash. 416, 81 P.2d 271 (1938)14-15
In re Dand's Estate, 41 Wn.2d 158, 247 P.2d 1016 (1952)
In re Kessler's Estate, 35 Wn.2d 156, 211 P.2d 496 (1949)14-15
In re Martinson's Estate, 29 Wn.2d 912, 190 P.2d 96 (1948)20
In re Melter, 167 Wn. App. 285, 273 P.3d 991 (2012)
Myers v. Little Church by the Side of the Road, 37 Wn.2d 897, 227 P.2d 165 (1951)15
Robel v. Roundup Corp., 148 Wn.2d 35, 59 P.3d 611 (2002)

Sears v. Int'l Bhd. of Teamsters, Chauffeurs, Stablemen & Helpers of Am., Local No. 524, 8 Wn.2d 447, 112 P.2d 850 (1941)	15
Thorndike v Hesperian Orchards, Inc., 54 Wn.2d 570, 343 P.2d 183 (1959)	_
RULES AND REGULATIONS	
RAP 13.41	., 13-15, 17-18, 20

I. Introduction.

After presiding over a six day trial, the trial court entered 83 findings of fact, finding both a basis for a presumption of undue influence and that the decedent's nieces and nephew established by clear, cogent and convincing evidence that the will of their 95-year old aunt, executed less than 4 months prior to her death, was the product of the undue influence of her financially-strapped postal carrier, who isolated the aunt, exploited her paranoia and suspicion, and poisoned her mind with untruths, falsely characterizing the nieces and nephew as greedy and uncaring.

The postal carrier challenged none of these findings on appeal. The Court of Appeals nevertheless reversed and remanded for a new trial, holding that "the trial court did not . . . make any findings of fact of 'positive evidence' of undue influence to specify what constituted . . . undue influence," and "wholly relied on the presumption." Division Two's holding fundamentally misreads this Court's undue influence jurisprudence. This Court should accept review of Division Two's decision substituting its own view of the facts for that of the trial court, who considered the testimony first hand and resolved issues of credibility, under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4).

II. Identity of Petitioners.

The petitioners are Eva Barnes' nieces and nephew, Marsha Rova, Vicki Rova Mueller, John Rova and Karen Bow ("the Rovas"), respondents in the Court of Appeals.

III. Court of Appeals Decision.

The Court of Appeals issued its decision on February 24, 2015. (Appendix A).

IV. Issues Presented for Review.

- A. This Court has repeatedly held that undue influence can be established entirely by circumstantial evidence. Did the Court of Appeals err by holding that the trial court's unchallenged findings that the sole beneficiary of a will isolated the decedent from her family and made false accusations that the decedents' nieces and nephews were greedy and uncaring were insufficient "positive evidence" of undue influence?
- B. Must a trial court separately identify in its findings those facts supporting its determination that clear and convincing evidence establishes that the will is the product of undue influence from those facts that support a presumption of undue influence?

C. May the appellate court substitute its judgment for the trial court's determination that its findings of undue influence meet the clear, cogent and convincing standard of persuasion?

V. Statement of the Case.

These facts are taken from the unchallenged findings of fact and from evidence supporting the trial court's judgment after a six day trial that the Rovas established by clear and convincing evidence that their aunt's 2011 will was the product of the undue influence of her mail carrier, Michelle Wells. (Appendix B) Michelle did not assign error to any of the trial court's 83 findings of fact, and they are verities on appeal. Robel v. Roundup Corp., 148 Wn.2d 35, 42, 59 P.3d 611 (2002).

A. Eva's 2004 and 2005 wills left her estate to her nieces and nephew, with whom she jointly owned a portion of the Rova property homesteaded by Eva's parents.

Eva Barnes died June 27, 2011, just a few weeks shy of her 95th birthday. (FF 1, CP 1090) Eva was survived by her brother Victor Rova's wife Marian and by Victor and Marian's children, Marsha, Vicki, John and Karen (the Rovas). (FF 1-3, CP 1090-91)

As children, the Rovas spent significant time at the Rova farm, which was jointly owned by Eva and her brother Victor, and originally homesteaded by their parents in 1918. (FF 4-5, CP 1091-

The Rovas maintained a close and loving relationship with their Aunt Eva well into their adulthood. (FF 3-4, CP 1091; RP 129) After her brother Victor's death in 1993, Eva and the Rovas also each owned a half interest in a rental house on the Rova property. (FF 5, CP 1091; RP 27, 74, 118) Following the deaths of Eva's only child Karolyn in 2004, and of Eva's husband Ray in 2005, the Rovas cared for Eva, checked in on her frequently, and traveled and celebrated holidays and special events with her. (FF 2-3, 12, CP 1091, 1093; RP 32-36, 43, 168-69, 202)

Eva's first known will, from March 4, 2004, left her estate to her husband Ray, then to her daughter Karolyn, in a trust to be managed by Vicki Rova Mueller as trustee, then, if both predeceased Eva, to the Rovas, in four equal shares. (FF 6, CP 1092) After Ray and Karolyn died, Eva executed a second will, on September 26, 2005, that left her entire estate to the Rovas in four equal shares and nominated Vicki to serve as Eva's personal representative, with Marsha Rova as the alternate PR. (FF 8, CP 1092) Eva also named Vicki as her attorney in fact and Marsha as the alternate, effective immediately. (FF 9, CP 1092-93)

Eva became depressed after the deaths of her husband and daughter. (FF 2, CP 1091; RP 203) Her physician prescribed an

antidepressant when she was hospitalized in April 2006 for bowel obstruction surgery. (FF 10, CP 1093) By 2009, Eva had become forgetful and confused. (RP 44) Always a fastidious housekeeper, Eva began hoarding newspapers, mail, magazines and personal possessions, which she piled throughout the house. (FF 27, CP 1096)

On March 26, 2009, Eva suffered a serious fall in her kitchen, and was not found for over two days. (FF 13, CP 1093) During her hospitalization and then upon her discharge to a rehabilitation facility, medical professionals documented significant cognitive impairment. (FF 15-17, CP 1094; Ex. 1 at 201, 226, 230, 267) Eva's physician and the other health care professionals believed she was not strong or healthy enough to return home, and that it would be in her best interest to temporarily reside at an assisted living facility. (FF 18, CP 1094-95) Based on the condition of Eva's home, a social worker recommended that the Rovas make a referral to Adult Protective Services. (FF 24, CP 1095; Ex. 1 at 199)

Eva stubbornly insisted that she be allowed to return home. (FF 18-19, CP 1094-95) When her physician reluctantly assented, the Rovas attempted to make Eva's home safe to the satisfaction of

the emergency responders, who would not allow Eva to return in its current condition. (FF 20, 25-28, CP 1095-96; RP 346, 680-86)

B. Michelle Wells, Eva's postal carrier, isolated Eva from her family and fanned the flames of her paranoia. By 2010, Eva had become completely dependent on Michelle.

Michelle Wells met Eva in 1997 on her route as a rural mail carrier for the United States Postal Service. (FF 39, CP 1099; RP 625-26) Michelle's visits increased after Eva's husband died in 2005. (FF 38-39, CP 1098-99) Michelle and her husband struggled financially. (FF 40, CP 1099) In 2009, Michelle borrowed money from Eva and was convicted of an unrelated misdemeanor theft. (FF 40, CP 1099; RP 761) Following Eva's return home in April 2009, Michelle increasingly involved herself in Eva's life, typically arriving at Eva's home in the morning before work, spending her lunch hour with Eva, and returning at the conclusion of her shift. (FF 38, CP 1098; RP 653) Michelle changed Eva's phone service, further isolating Eva from her family and her friends. (FF 69, CP 1107) Eva stopped driving, and became dependent on Michelle for transportation. (FF 51, CP 1103)

Eva resented the Rovas' attempt to make her home suitable for her return, considering their efforts a violation of her privacy. (FF 30, CP 1097) Even though Michelle had also been involved in cleaning her home to prepare for Eva's return, Eva accused the Rovas of deliberately destroying her address book. (FF 30-31, CP 1097) Eva developed an acute and unjustified paranoia that the Rovas wanted to place her in a nursing home or assisted living facility. (FF 33-34, CP 1097-98) She wrote incoherent, irrational letters to the Rovas and other family members and friends, and, uncharacteristically, neglected the rental property. (FF 42-43, 45, 53, CP 1099-1101, 1103-04; RP 78-79, 326; Ex. 69-71) Her physician diagnosed "mild cognitive impairment." (FF 36, CP 1098; Ex. 1 at 892)

The trial court found that Michelle fueled Eva's paranoia, further isolating her from her family. (RP 872; FF 73, CP 1108-09) Michelle falsely accused the Rovas of wanting to sell the Rova property and "become millionaires," telling the tenants the Rovas were "greedy villains." (FF 46-47, CP 1101-02; Ex. 78)

In November 2010, Eva drove Michelle to the office of Eva's attorney Jeff Tolman. (FF 50, CP 1103) Michelle told Tolman in Eva's presence that the Rovas had thrown away Eva's address book — a "violation" that particularly incensed Eva. (FF 50, CP 1103) Michelle knew the accusation was false, and she knew how much

the loss of the address book had upset Eva. (FF 50, CP 1103; RP 119, 872)

C. Michelle obtained Eva's power of attorney and then, less than four months before Eva's death at age 95, became the sole beneficiary of Eva's 2011 will.

Tolman questioned Eva's decision to give Michelle her power of attorney. However, after Tolman's attempt at reconciliation with the Rovas failed, Michelle drove Eva to Tolman's office again, and Eva executed a new Power of Attorney appointing Michelle in December 2010. (FF 48-49, 52, CP 1102-03) Less than a month later, Michelle began writing Eva's checks as her attorney in fact, paying Michelle's family and friends she had enlisted to provide care for Eva. (FF 54, CP 1104; RP 748-49)

Eva directed Tolman to prepare a new will leaving her entire estate to Michelle and disinheriting the Rovas completely. (FF 60, CP 1105) On March 1, 2011, Michelle drove Eva to Tolman's office. (FF 57, CP 1104) Tolman refused to allow Eva to execute the will because she could not remember the name of one of her nieces. (FF 57, CP 1104-05) Two days later, on March 3, 2011, Michelle drove Eva to her physician and asked if he would prescribe Eva "a medication for her memory." (Ex. 1 at 879) Eva's doctor prescribed

Aricept. (FF 59, CP 1105) Michelle then drove Eva from her doctor directly to Tolman's office. (FF 60, CP 1105) After engaging Eva in a lengthy colloquy, Tolman documented his conclusion that Eva was sufficiently competent to execute a new will that appointed Michelle personal representative and left Michelle her entire estate. (FF 60, CP 1105)

On May 2, 2011, Michelle drove Eva to Eva's church in Poulsbo, to give a recorded interview. (FF 71, CP 1108) Eva was often confused during the interview, and Michelle frequently corrected Eva and spoke for her. (FF 71-72, CP 1108; Ex. 12) In the recorded interview, Michelle falsely stated that Eva's nephew John had tried to "throw [Eva] under the bus a couple times," and that the Rovas were trying to put Eva in a nursing home. (FF 72, CP 1108; RP 506)

Eva's mental and physical health continued to fail in the weeks after this interview. Her physician noted that Eva's "long-standing mild cognitive impairment . . . seems to be gradually progressing. Probably early Alzheimer's dementia." (FF 74-75, CP 1109; Ex. 1 at 892; RP 105) On June 27, 2011, two days after Michelle used her power of attorney to write a \$2,641.94 check

from Eva's personal bank account to make Michelle's mortgage payment, Eva passed away. (FF 77-78, CP 1109-10)

D. After a six day trial, the trial court found by clear and convincing evidence that Eva's will was the product of Michelle's undue influence.

The Honorable Brooke Taylor presided over a six day trial on the Rovas' will contest alleging both lack of testamentary capacity and Michelle's undue influence. (CP 9-11) Judge Taylor found that, while the issue was a close one, the Rovas failed to prove by clear and convincing evidence that Eva lacked the capacity to make a will on March 3, 2011. (CL 4, CP 1111-12; RP 868) However, applying the factors identified by this Court in *Dean v. Jordan*, 194 Wash. 661, 79 P.2d 331 (1938), Judge Taylor found that the Rovas had established that the will was a product of Michelle's undue influence. (RP 857-72)

The trial court found the Rovas had established a presumption of undue influence and that Michelle had failed to rebut the presumption. (CL 10-20, CP 1113-15) But the trial court went further, specifically finding that the Rovas satisfied their burden of proving undue influence by clear, cogent and convincing evidence, and rejecting Michelle's argument that its decision was

based solely on Michelle's failure to rebut the presumption. (CP 1373; 6/5 RP 9; CL 21, CP 1115)

E. Substituting its own view of the unchallenged findings for the trial court's, Division Two reversed on the grounds the trial court had failed to identify "positive evidence" of undue influence.

The Court of Appeals reversed, finding that Michelle had rebutted the presumption of undue influence with evidence that Eva's will was the product of her own volition. (Op. 8) The Court of Appeals held that the trial court had failed to "make any findings of fact of 'positive evidence' of undue influence to specify what constituted Michelle's undue influence" and remanded "for a new trial." (Op. 9)

VI. Argument Why Review Should Be Granted.

A. The Court of Appeals opinion conflicts with this Court's precedent in rejecting the trial court's extensive unchallenged findings as insufficient "positive evidence" of undue influence.

The trial court not only found that Michelle failed to rebut a presumption of undue influence but that the Rovas sustained their ultimate burden of proving that Eva's will was the product of Michelle's "ongoing undue influence," by "clear, cogent and convincing evidence." (CL 21, CP 1115) The trial court's

unchallenged findings are based on both direct and circumstantial evidence supporting its conclusion that Eva's will was the product of Michelle's undue influence. Michelle, who struggled financially, was convicted of theft (FF 40, CP 1099), and misused her power of attorney to pay her mortgage from Eva's account (FF 77, CP 1109-10), was a constant presence isolating Eva from her family and friends (FF 38, 69-70, CP 1098, 1107), accompanying Eva to her medical appointments (FF 51, 56, 59, CP 1103-05) and estate planning meetings with Eva's lawyer. (FF 51, 52, 57, 60, CP 1103-05)

Most critically, when Eva was "highly vulnerable to influence due to her physical and mental impairments and total dependence," (FF 83, CP 1111), Michelle poisoned Eva against her nieces and nephew, making false statements that fed Eva's unfounded paranoia against the Rovas, the natural beneficiaries of her will. Michelle "fanned the flame and operated to perpetuate [Eva's] anger," making it "easier for [Eva] to believe all the horrible things she had said about the [Rovas]." (FF 73, CP 1108-09) Michelle told the Rovas' tenants the Rovas were "greedy villains," falsely claiming that the Rovas intended to evict them so they could sell the land, develop the properties, and "become millionaires."

(FF 46, CP 1101-02) Knowing how upset Eva was about the loss of her address book, Michelle told Eva's attorney, in Eva's presence, that the Rovas had thrown it out. (FF 50, CP 1103) Michelle told the church interviewer that Eva's nephew had "tried to throw [Eva] under the bus a couple times, and that the [Rovas] were trying to put [Eva] in a nursing home." (FF 72, CP 1108) And Michelle knew these statements about the Rovas, the natural beneficiaries of Eva's estate under her previous wills, were not true. (RP 872)

This Court should accept review because the Court of Appeals' decision reversing the trial court despite these undisputed findings misapplies *Dean v. Jordan*, 194 Wash. 661, 79 P.2d 331 (1953), and conflicts with this Court's consistent precedent. Division Two's new requirement of "positive evidence" ignores not just the trial court's findings, but this Court's decisions recognizing that circumstantial evidence is not only sufficient to raise a presumption of undue influence, but when identified in detailed findings can establish clear and convincing evidence of undue influence. RAP 13.4(b)(1). The Court of Appeals' substitution of its judgment for that of the trial court that heard the testimony and made credibility determinations, and its refusal to defer to the fact finder's assessment of the evidence that it found to satisfy a party's

burden of proof, wrongly harkens to a bygone era of *de novo* review of will contests that calls for this Court's review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

1. The Court of Appeals' new requirement that the trial court identify "positive evidence" of undue influence conflicts with Riley, Kessler and Foster.

By requiring a trial court to identify "positive evidence" of undue influence, the Court of Appeals opinion conflicts with this Court's consistent holdings that undue influence, which by its very nature is exerted in secret, may be established entirely by circumstantial evidence. *In re Kessler's Estate*, 35 Wn.2d 156, 162, 211 P.2d 496 (1949) ("[u]ndue influence is not usually exercised openly in the presence of others"); *Foster v. Brady*, 198 Wash. 13, 19, 86 P.2d 760 (1939) ("ordinarily undue influence can be established only by circumstantial evidence"); *In re Bush's Estate*, 195 Wash. 416, 425, 81 P.2d 271 (1938) ("undue influence can hardly ever be shown in any way other than by circumstantial evidence"). This Court should accept review and hold that undue

influence, like many other wrongful acts, does not require proof by "positive" evidence.

In Kessler's Estate, this Court deferred to the trial court's assessment of circumstantial evidence establishing that the decedent was taken advantage of while in a weakened physical and mental state. 35 Wn.2d at 161-62. In Bush's Estate, the Court affirmed the trial court's decision that the decedent was "peculiarly susceptible to the influence of a daughter who was acting as his housekeeper, and upon whom he was to a great extent dependent for his comfort." 195 Wash. at 422-23. And in Foster, the Court reversed the dismissal of the contestant's petition, holding that circumstantial evidence "sufficiently establishes the fact of undue influence." 198 Wash. at 20. The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with this precedent and this Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

¹ See Bland v. Mentor, 63 Wn.2d 150, 155, 385 P.2d 727 (1963) ("fraud need not be established by direct and positive evidence. It may be proved, in whole or in part, by circumstantial evidence."); Myers v. Little Church by the Side of the Road, 37 Wn.2d 897, 903, 227 P.2d 165 (1951) ("It was not necessary to establish negligence by direct and positive evidence."); Sears v. Int'l Bhd. of Teamsters, Chauffeurs, Stablemen & Helpers of Am., Local No. 524, 8 Wn.2d 447, 452, 112 P.2d 850 (1941) ("Conspiracies need not be established by direct and positive evidence, and are seldom susceptible of such proof. They may be proven by circumstantial evidence, or be established by inferences like any other disputed fact.").

2. The Court of Appeals misapplies Dean v. Jordan because the same evidence supporting the presumption may establish clear and convincing evidence of undue influence.

A trial court may weigh the evidence and set aside a will upon finding that the contestants established by clear and convincing evidence the "ultimate fact" – that the will was the product of undue influence. Estate of Pfleghar, 35 Wn. App. 844, 847, 670 P.2d 677 (1983), rev. denied, 100 Wn.2d 1036 (1984). Nothing in Dean or any other appellate decision requires a party to prove the ultimate fact of undue influence with "positive" evidence, as the Court of Appeals held here.

The Dean Court identified several non-exclusive "suspicious" factors that may give rise to a presumption of undue influence, including the age, health and mental vigor of the testator; nature or degree of relationship between the testator and the beneficiary; whether the beneficiary actively participated in the will's procurement or had other opportunity for exerting undue influence; and the unnaturalness of the will. Dean, 194 Wash. at 672. The Dean presumption requires the proponent of the will "to come forward with evidence that is at least sufficient to balance the scales and restore the equilibrium," but does not "relieve the contestants"

from the duty of establishing their contention by clear, cogent and convincing evidence." *Estate of Lint*, 135 Wn.2d 518, 536, 957 P.2d 755 (1998) (internal quotation omitted).

Here, the Court of Appeals' refusal to affirm the trial court's finding of that "ultimate fact" conflicts with established precedent. RAP 13.4(b)(1). The *Dean* Court held not only that the decedent's niece, who had cared for her aunt for over 15 years and took charge of her estate at the request of others had rebutted the presumption, but noted that the challengers, the children and grandchildren of the aunt's husband, had produced *no* evidence, "positive" or circumstantial, that could satisfy their ultimate burden. *Dean*, 194 Wash. at 673.

Contrary to Division Two's reasoning in substituting its judgment for the trial court's, *Dean* thus does not require the trial court find evidence different from the circumstantial evidence it relied upon in establishing the presumption of undue influence in the first instance. Nor does any other authority. To the contrary, this Court defers to the trial court's factual findings. In *Estate of Lint*, for instance, the trial court did not specifically find that undue influence was established by clear, cogent and convincing evidence, but this Court nevertheless affirmed because the trial court's

finding of clear and convincing evidence was "implicit from its citation to *Dean* where the correct burden of proof is set forth." 135 Wn.2d at 537. This Court should accept review and reinstate the trial court's judgment under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2).

3. The Court of Appeals decision fails to defer to the trial court's first hand assessment of the weight of conflicting evidence.

Regardless of the burden of persuasion or the nature of the evidence, "the constitution does not authorize this court to substitute its findings for that of the trial court." Thorndike v Hesperian Orchards, Inc., 54 Wn.2d 570, 575, 343 P.2d 183 (1959). Particularly in fact-intensive inquires of undue influence, "the trial court, having the witnesses before it, is in a better position to arrive at the truth than is the appellate court." Estate of Esala, 16 Wn. App. 764, 770, 559 P.2d 592 (1977); In re Dand's Estate, 41 Wn.2d 158, 162-63, 247 P.2d 1016 (1952). See Bland, 63 Wn.2d at 154 ("whether the evidence in a given case meets the standard of persuasion, designated as clear, cogent, and convincing, necessarily requires a process of weighing, comparing, testing, and evaluating-a function best performed by the trier of the fact"); In re Melter, 167

Wn. App. 285, 314-15, ¶¶ 68-69, 273 P.3d 991 (2012) (Sweeney, J., concurring).

As Judge Sweeney noted in *Melter*, "we do not pass on the persuasiveness of evidence to meet other burdens of persuasion preponderance or beyond a reasonable doubt." 167 Wn. App. at 316, ¶ 71. Here, the Court of Appeals did not overturn any one of the 83 findings of fact entered by Judge Taylor after hearing six days of testimony, including his finding that Michelle was not credible. (RP 872-73) In remanding for a new trial, the Court of Appeals adds to the confusion, noted by Judge Sweeney, on the proper scope of appellate review of findings establishing undue influence, and harkens an improper return to *de novo* review of will contests alleging undue influence.

Even when *de novo* review was the standard, this Court recognized the wisdom of deferring to the trial court's assessment of conflicting evidence of undue influence:

A trial judge is much more than a commissioner named to take and collect evidence in a case. He is a judicial officer provided for by our constitution, and the laws of this state. He has had years of experience as a trial lawyer, and as a judge. He is a student of human beings who come to testify on the witness stand and give their stories. He had the opportunity, and it was his duty, to study the witnesses. In determining the credibility of the various witnesses,

and the weight to be given to their testimony, he took into consideration their conduct and demeanor while testifying, their temper, feeling of bias, if any, their fairness, or lack of fairness, their conduct and appearance while on the witness stand, and while in the courtroom, the reasonableness or unreasonableness of the story they told, their opportunity, or lack of opportunity of knowing that about which they testified, the apparent capacity and intelligence of the respective witnesses, and their capability to correctly observe and report the matters testified to by them. He gave such credit and weight to the testimony of each witness, which, under all the circumstances, he deemed that witness, and his, or her testimony, was entitled to receive. The credibility of the witnesses. and the force of their testimony, and the weight that should be attached to it, are all matters concerning which the trial judge is the best judge.

In re Martinson's Estate, 29 Wn.2d 912, 920-21, 190 P.2d 96 (1948). This Court should accept review to address when the Court of Appeals can substitute its own judgment for the "ultimate fact" of undue influence, a recurring issue of substantial public concern, under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

VII. Conclusion.

This Court should reinstate the trial court's decision.