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

ARGUMENT 

A. The Rovas misunderstand or misinterpret the 
Unpublished Decision to create a conflict. 

The Court of Appeals' Unpublished Opinion holds that the trial 

court erred as a matter of law in entering two Conclusions· of Law that 

the Wells had failed to rebut the Dean presumption of undue . 

influence. Unpub. Op. at "7-9. 1 Specifically, the court noted that "to 

rebut the presumption of undue influence, to 'balance the scales and 

restore the equilibrium of evidence,' the Wells had to come forward 

with evidence that supported an equally plausible explanation for 

Barnes' testamentary disposition." Unpub. Op. at 8 (citing Dean, 194 

1Quoting C/L 21, 22; CP 1152-53: 
21. Michelle Wells did not produce evidence that this Couri finds 
sufficient to "at least to balance the scales and restore the 
equilibrium of evidence touching the validity of the will." · In re 
Estate of Burkland, 8 [Wn.]. App. 153, [160], 504 P.2d 1143 
(1972), [review denied], 82 [Wn].2d 1002 (1973). Clear, cogent and 
convincing evidence establishes ~hat the will signed by Ms. Barnes 
on March 3, 2011 was the product of ongoing undue influence by 
Michelle Wells. 
22. The evidence that was presented on behalf of Ms. Wells was 
not sufficient to overcome the presumption of undue influence, 
based not only on the fiduciary relationship, the active participation 
in procuring the Will and the unnatural disposition, but on all of the 
other considerations that the Supreme C~.urt says are appropriate 
to consider, . age, health, incapacity, mental vigor, nature and 
degree of rel~tionships, opportunity for influence ·and the 
unnaturalness of the disposition. The will that Ms. Barnes executed 
on March 3, 2011 is invalid because it was the product of undue 
influence by Michelle Wells. 
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Wash. at 672). And the "trial court's unchallenged findings of fact 

contain more than sufficient evidence that Barnes changed her will 

for a valid reason, unaffected by undue influence: that she had grown 

apart from, was suspicious of, and disliked the Rovas." /d. 

Thus, the trial court erred as a matter of law in concluding that 

the Wells had failed to balance the scales - its own findings show 

the balance. /d. at 8-9. ·Eva was a "strong-minded" woman. /d. at 8 

(citing FF 19, CP 1132). But Michelle became Eva's "caretaker" as 

she became "less involved" with the Rovas. /d. (citing FF 39; CP 

1136). Michelle provided all of Eva's transportation because Eva 

stopped driving. /d. Eva became "suspicious'~ of the Rovas when they 

removed items from her home and suggested that she enter into an 

assisted-living facility (of which Eva was "desperately afraid"). /d. 

(citing FF 34, CP 1'134-35). Eva "felt ostracized" from the Rovas. /d. 

(citing FF 44, CP 1137). But the Rovas did not choose to become 

less involved in Eva's life; rather, "it was [Eva's] choice" to become 

"less involved" with them. /d. (citing FF 39; CP 1136). · · · 

Ignoring the trial court's patent legal error, the Rovas claim 

that the appellate court has created a new definition for the ''positive 

evidence" of undue influence required in Dean, 194 Wash. at 673. 

Petition at 11-15. As explained above, they misread the Unpublished 
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Opinion. The appellate court simply acknowledged the trial court's 

legal error in ruling that the Wells did not overcome the presumption 

and that the presumption itself was sufficient. Unpub. Op. at 9. On 

the contrary, the burden of proof remained with the Rovas,2 and the 

trial court made no findings of clear, cogent, and convincing evidence 

of undue influence. Unpub. Op. at 9. ("the trial court wholly relied on 

the presumption in making its conClusions of law regarding undue 

influence. This reliance on the presumption was error"). 

B. No conflicts exist- just misreadings and misstatements. 

The Rovas' first al!eged conflict is with a series of cases 

stating that undue influence may be established by circumstantial 

evidence. Petition at 14-15. Of course it may. But the Unpublished 

Opinion says nothing about direct vs. circumstantial evidence. As 

explained above, the appellate court required "po·sitive evidence" as 

opposed to the trial court's exclusive reliance on the presumptioh. 

There is no conflict regarding circumstantial evidence. , 

The Rova's second alleged conflict misstates Dean. They 

claim that "[n]othing in Dean or any other appellate decision requires 

2 Unpub. Op. at 7 ("The presumption does not ·shift the ultimate burden of 
proving undue influence, which remains· with· the will .contestant. In re 
Metter, 167 Wn. App. [285,] 299[, 273 P. 3ci 991 (2012]"). 
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a party to prove the ultimate fact of undue influence with 'positive' 

evidence, as the Court of Appeals held here." Petition at 16. On the 

contrary, in Dean this Court held that (as here) the will contestants' 

"assertion of fraud and undue influence has no support .In positive 

evidence, but is wholly · dependent upon the force of the 

presumption." Dean, 194 Wash. at 673; Positive evidence- rather 

than a mere presumption -is required; 

The Rovas' third and final alleged conflict misstates the 

Unpublished Opinion. Petition at 18-20. Rather incredibly, the Rovas 

claim that the appellate court substitutea its own view of the facts for 

that of the trial court. /d. But the appellate cour1 remanded for a new 

trial. Unpub. Op. at 9. That is hardly substituting its own view of the 

facts. The appellate court reversed as a matter of law due to legal 

error. The Rovas have another opportunity to actually prove it, if the 

can. But in truth, there is no undue influence here, as Eva's doctor 

and her distinguished estate lawyer both testified. 
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CONCLUSION 

This Court should deny review.